2025

SCCG management

# The Court Cases and Legal Battles Shaping the Gaming Industry



### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

H	low Law and Legal Action Have Shaped the Gaming Industry	2
	Introduction	2
	Foundational U.S. Court Cases: Tribal Gaming and Sovereignty	4
	Sports Betting and the Supreme Court: Murphy v. NCAA (2018)	7
	The Wire Act and Online Gaming: A Shifting Legal Landscape	10
	Intellectual Property and Patents in Gaming	14
	Sovereignty and Jurisdiction: Battles Beyond Borders	19
	Regulatory Enforcement and Litigation: Compliance through Courts	25
	Key Corporate Legal Battles: Competition and Corporate Governance in Gaming	29
	Global Precedents: International Case Law and Regulatory Models	33
	Tables & Summaries	39
	Future Outlook: Emerging Legal Battlegrounds	44

## How Law and Legal Action Have Shaped the Gaming Industry

#### Introduction

The gaming industry has been profoundly shaped by legal action, encompassing court challenges, lawsuits, and enforcement decisions, as distinct from mere legislation. While legislatures enact broad gambling laws and regulatory statutes, it is often the courtroom battles and subsequent precedents that truly define the industry's course. Legal actions — whether a sovereign tribe suing a state over casino rights, a constitutional challenge to a federal betting ban, or a patent infringement fight between gaming companies — have frequently forced changes and clarified boundaries in ways lawmaking alone could not. This primer focuses on how case law, court decisions, and litigation outcomes have driven the structure and direction of the global gaming industry. It emphasizes key lawsuits, judicial rulings, sovereignty disputes, and intellectual property enforcement as the main catalysts, rather than providing a simple legislative history. We will see how landmark court cases led to new frameworks (for example, a Supreme Court decision prompting Congress to act), how sovereignty conflicts over gambling were resolved (or inflamed) by judges, and how enforcement actions and settlements have reshaped industry practices. The importance of these legal battles cannot be overstated: court challenges and precedents have established the rules of the road for gaming operators, sometimes expanding opportunities (as when bans are struck down or loopholes identified) and other times constraining and structuring the industry through compliance mandates. In short, the structure of modern gaming – from tribal casinos and sports betting markets to online gambling and slot machine innovation – is the product of not just laws on the books, but of how those laws have been tested and interpreted through legal action.

As we proceed, we will cover foundational U.S. court cases that set the stage for today's gaming landscape, such as the tribal gaming decisions of the 1980s that led to a new era of Native

American casinos. We will examine the recent Supreme Court ruling that upended the prohibition on sports betting nationwide, as well as tussles over decades-old laws like the Wire Act in the face of internet gambling. Intellectual property fights over game mechanics and branding will illustrate how patents and trademarks influence what games appear on casino floors. Sovereignty and jurisdiction issues emerge when different governments (tribal, federal, state, or international) clash over who gets to regulate or profit from gaming. We will also discuss litigation in regulatory enforcement – from anti-money-laundering crackdowns to class-action lawsuits by players – showing how legal consequences drive better compliance and consumer protection. Key corporate legal battles, including fights over daily fantasy sports (DFS) and mergers of major casino companies, demonstrate how competition law and enterprise litigation shape the industry's consolidation and innovation. A look at global precedents will highlight instructive examples from Europe and Asia, where court decisions likewise balanced state controls with market freedoms.

Before delving into these topics, it is crucial to clarify what we mean by "legal action" versus "legislation" in gaming. Legislation refers to laws passed by legislative bodies – for example, statutes like the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act or the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act. Those laws provide frameworks, but legal action refers to the disputes and enforcement of those laws through the judicial system: lawsuits brought by affected parties, regulatory agencies taking violators to court, or challenges to the constitutionality of laws. Often, it is only when laws are challenged or applied in court that their true impact is felt. A state can outlaw a type of gambling, but that policy might be overturned by a lawsuit. Conversely, a law allowing a form of gaming might gain meaning only after courts resolve who can participate and under what conditions. This dynamic interplay has repeatedly shaped gaming. For example, Congress passed laws prohibiting certain gambling activities, but it took years of prosecutions and ensuing court rulings to delineate exactly what behavior was forbidden. Similarly, when ambiguities in statutes arose (like whether an old wire-communication law applied to the Internet), it fell to legal actions – both within courts and via Justice Department interpretations tested in court – to settle the matter.

In summary, this report will illustrate that the gaming industry's evolution has been propelled in large part by **courtroom outcomes and enforcement actions**. From tribal bingo halls to Las Vegas Strip mega-resorts, from corner bookies to international online betting platforms, the path has been

navigated and negotiated through lawsuits, judicial decisions, settlements, and regulatory legal actions that collectively form a rich legal tapestry. Understanding this history of legal action is vital for industry stakeholders and observers alike, as it provides insight into why the industry looks as it does today and how future legal battles may steer its tomorrow.

### Foundational U.S. Court Cases: Tribal Gaming and Sovereignty

One of the most pivotal early legal battles in modern gaming was California v. Cabazon Band of Mission Indians (1987), a U.S. Supreme Court case that laid the foundation for Indian gaming rights. In the 1980s, the Cabazon and Morongo Bands of Mission Indians were operating high-stakes bingo games and a card room on their reservations in California. State officials sought to shut these games down, arguing they violated California gambling laws. The tribes fought back, asserting their sovereign right to conduct gaming on their own lands. The dispute eventually reached the Supreme Court, which issued a landmark decision in 1987. The Court held that if a state's laws permit a form of gambling for any purpose (even under regulation), then the state cannot enforce those laws on tribal land to forbid that same gaming<sup>1</sup>. In other words, because California allowed certain gambling (like a state-run lottery and charitable bingo), its anti-gambling laws were considered "civil/regulatory" rather than criminal prohibitions, and thus the state could not apply them to stop the tribes' gaming operations. This effectively meant that on Indian reservations, tribes could offer forms of gambling that were not outright illegal under state law, free from state regulation. The Cabazon ruling was monumental: it "overturned the existing laws restricting gambling on U.S. Indian reservations," affirming a broad view of tribal sovereignty in gaming<sup>1</sup>. The Court acknowledged that California's public policy was not to ban gambling entirely (since the state itself operated gambling in some forms), so it could not treat tribal gaming as a crime. The immediate result was to unleash a boom in Indian gaming – tribes across the country could establish bingo halls and casinos as long as the gambling was of a type the state allowed for someone (such as pari-mutuel wagering, bingo, card games, etc.).

Cabazon's impact was so significant that it prompted Congress to step in. In 1988, the year after the decision, Congress enacted the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA), essentially codifying the Cabazon holding and creating a framework for Indian gaming<sup>2</sup>. IGRA established a structure of three classes of gaming (Class I for traditional/social games, Class II for bingo and certain non-banked card games, and Class III for full casino-style gaming). Under IGRA, Class II games (like bingo) were confirmed as permissible on tribal lands if the state allowed that game for any purpose, echoing Cabazon's principle. For Class III (e.g., slot machines, blackjack, roulette, etc.), IGRA required tribes to negotiate a compact with the state. In effect, IGRA was Congress's attempt to balance tribal sovereignty with some state involvement for high-stakes casino gambling, but it would not have come about without the Cabazon decision forcing the issue. The Cabazon case and IGRA together ushered in the modern Indian casino era: by explicitly allowing tribes to operate gaming (subject to regulation and compacts), they led to the proliferation of tribal casinos that we see today, dramatically improving many tribes' economies and altering the U.S. casino industry landscape.

However, the path was not without further legal conflict. After IGRA, one major question was: what if a state refused to negotiate a Class III gaming compact with a tribe, effectively blocking tribal casinos? IGRA tried to address this by permitting tribes to sue states in federal court for failing to negotiate in "good faith." That provision, however, ran into a legal brick wall in Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Florida (1996). In that case, the Seminole Tribe argued Florida wasn't negotiating a casino compact in good faith and sought to invoke IGRA's lawsuit provision. The issue reached the Supreme Court, which held that Congress lacked the power to abrogate state sovereign immunity under the Eleventh Amendment in this context – meaning a tribe could not sue a state without the state's consent<sup>3</sup>. This 1996 Supreme Court decision essentially stripped tribes of the explicit legal remedy IGRA had provided when states stonewalled negotiations. The outcome was that many tribes had no judicial recourse if a state refused to allow Class III gaming; states could simply assert immunity. The Seminole decision upset the "delicate balance" of IGRAictnews.org and led to prolonged stalemates in some states. For example, some tribes had to find workarounds, such as invoking Ex parte Young (suing state officials for injunctive relief) or relying on the federal secretarial procedures (an alternative mediation and Interior Department approval process) to get gaming going despite state resistance. The long-term industry impact of Seminole Tribe v. Florida

was to **empower states in compact negotiations**, often forcing tribes to make significant concessions or wait patiently until states were willing to bargain. In some cases, years of litigation followed until agreements were reached. Despite this setback for tribes, Indian gaming continued to grow, and subsequent cases continued to define the contours of tribal vs. state power.

Another notable Supreme Court case on tribal gaming sovereignty is Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Community (2014). There, the Bay Mills tribe opened a casino off its reservation (on purchased land), and Michigan sued to stop it as illegal (since it lacked state authorization). The Supreme Court in Bay Mills ruled that Michigan's lawsuit was barred by tribal sovereign immunity – even though the casino was off-reservation, the tribe hadn't unequivocally waived immunity and Congress hadn't authorized such a suit. The Court essentially told states that if a tribe operates gaming outside Indian lands, enforcement must come from federal authorities or other means, not a direct state lawsuit against the tribe. This reaffirmed the principle that tribes, as sovereigns, cannot be sued by states without consent or congressional authorization. The result was a reinforcement of tribal immunity and a signal that states needing to enforce gambling laws against tribes have to find creative solutions or get Congress to change laws. (Notably, Justice Kagan's majority opinion in Bay Mills suggested states could sue individual tribal officials or ask Congress to amend IGRA, but the core holding protected tribes.)

The distinction between Class II and Class III gaming has also been at the heart of legal disputes shaping the industry. Class II gaming (like bingo) does not require state permission beyond that the game is legal in the state, whereas Class III does. Thus, tribes in some states without compacts turned to innovative Class II gaming devices that look and feel like slot machines but technically use bingo or lotto mechanics. This led to many legal battles over whether certain electronic games are truly Class II or illicit Class III games in disguise. For instance, in Alabama and Texas, state authorities fought against tribes operating "electronic bingo" machines. A recent example is Ysleta del Sur Pueblo v. Texas (2022), where the U.S. Supreme Court sided with the tribe's right to offer bingo-based gaming despite Texas's objections. The Court held that under a specific federal law (the Restoration Act), the tribe could engage in gaming so long as the game was not outright prohibited by Texas. Since Texas allowed bingo (albeit regulated), the tribe's bingo hall could operate notwithstanding state regulations. This decision reinforced the Cabazon principle even for

tribes governed by unique statutes, emphasizing that **if a state merely regulates a gaming activity** (instead of banning it), a tribe can conduct that gaming without adhering to those state regulations<sup>4</sup>. The ripple effect is significant: tribes have leverage to operate certain forms of gaming even in states that haven't explicitly agreed, leading some states to come to the negotiating table rather than see tribes proceed unilaterally with Class II facilities.

In summary, the foundational U.S. cases around tribal gaming established two critical things: (1)

Tribal sovereignty in gaming, recognizing the right of tribes to conduct gambling on their lands if not strictly forbidden by state law (Cabazon, and later cases following its logic), and (2) The need for cooperation (or at least negotiation) between states and tribes for casino-style gaming, albeit with states holding a stronger hand after Seminole (due to sovereign immunity). These early legal battles effectively created a new sector of the industry — Indian casinos — that today accounts for a large portion of U.S. gaming revenue. They also introduced a patchwork of compacts and regulations, as each state-tribe relationship had to be worked out, often under the shadow of these court precedents. As we will see, the theme of sovereignty and legal action continues globally, but these U.S. cases were trailblazers in showing how courts can redefine an industry overnight. Congress acted by passing IGRAen.wikipedia.org in response to the courts, a pattern we'll observe again in other contexts (like sports betting). Through litigation, tribal nations asserted themselves as major players in the gaming industry, and the legal balancing act between sovereigns continues to evolve through further disputes and agreements.

### Sports Betting and the Supreme Court: Murphy v. NCAA (2018)

For decades, **legal sports betting** in the United States was confined mainly to Nevada and a few other select jurisdictions. This was due in large part to a federal law called the Professional and Amateur Sports Protection Act (PASPA) of 1992, which effectively outlawed state-authorized sports betting nationwide (with exemptions for states like Nevada that already had it). By the 2010s, however, attitudes toward sports wagering were shifting, and states eager to tap into potential tax revenues grew increasingly impatient with the federal ban. This set the stage for a legal showdown.

New Jersey, in particular, led the charge: after a voter referendum and state legislation to legalize sports betting, the major professional sports leagues and NCAA sued the state under PASPA to stop the rollout of sports books. The case that ultimately made it to the U.S. Supreme Court was Murphy v. NCAA (2018) (initially called Christie v. NCAA, after then-Governor Chris Christie, and later renamed when Phil Murphy became governor). In a historic decision, the Supreme Court struck down PASPA as unconstitutional, fundamentally altering the sports betting landscape across the country.

The Supreme Court's ruling in Murphy v. NCAA was grounded in the **Tenth Amendment and the** "anti-commandeering" doctrine. In essence, the Court held that PASPA violated the Constitution by commandeering state legislatures – it forbade states from legalizing sports betting, which the Court saw as the federal government improperly controlling state policy choices. Justice Samuel Alito wrote that Congress cannot require states to maintain laws prohibiting something; if Congress wants to ban sports betting, it must do so itself, not just bar the states from allowing itlawreview.syr.edu. This distinction was crucial. The 7–2 decision not only invalidated PASPA's key provision (preventing state authorization of sports gambling) but effectively **freed each state to legalize and regulate sports betting if it so chooses**<sup>5</sup>. The impact was immediate and sweeping: "all states are free to decide whether their citizens may gamble on professional sports, overturning prior law" and giving many gambling fans across the nation reason to celebrate<sup>5</sup>. The ruling on May 14, 2018, was cheered by states and bettors alike – at last, sports wagering could come out of the shadows of illicit markets and into regulated venues.

The **ripple effects across states and operators** have been enormous. In the wake of Murphy, one state after another moved to legalize sports betting. Within months, states like New Jersey (the victor in the case), Delaware, Mississippi, and West Virginia opened sports books. Over the next few years, a majority of U.S. states legalized sports betting in some form, whether at physical casinos, racetracks, or via online and mobile platforms. This generated a new multi-billion-dollar industry virtually from scratch. Companies like DraftKings and FanDuel, which had started as daily fantasy sports operators, pivoted aggressively into sports betting, launching sports book apps and partnering with casinos. Traditional casino operators like MGM Resorts, Caesars Entertainment, and Wynn also jumped into the fray, along with European bookmaking giants like William Hill (since

acquired by Caesars) and Bet365, who sought U.S. market entry. The Murphy decision essentially created a competitive gold rush for sports betting market share. In terms of structure, we've seen new partnerships between media companies and sports books, the emergence of sports betting advertising on a scale never seen before, and even the reshaping of fan engagement with professional leagues (many of which now have official betting partners). Leagues that once opposed betting (the plaintiffs in the case) have largely embraced it post-Murphy, signing deals with sportsbooks and even establishing betting lounges in stadiums.

From a legal perspective, Murphy v. NCAA is also significant because it underscored the balance of power between federal and state governments. The Supreme Court reaffirmed that the federal government cannot simply dictate state law absent a supremacy clause-friendly federal regulatory scheme. In theory, Congress could have tried to enact a new, comprehensive federal sports betting ban or regulatory regime after Murphy, but politically that hasn't happened (and seems unlikely given the momentum of legalization). Instead, federal authorities have focused on auxiliary issues (like sports betting integrity and enforcement of laws against illegal offshore betting). Murphy's anticommandeering holding has been cited in unrelated contexts too (as noted by observers, it provided "ammunition" for states on issues like sanctuary city policies or marijuana legalization in arguments against federal interference)lawreview.syr.edulawreview.syr.edu.

For the gaming industry, the key result of Murphy is that **sports betting became a mainstream**, **regulated business nationwide** rather than a prohibited activity funneled to black markets or a Nevada monopoly. States have implemented various models – some with open competition among many operators, others with limited licenses or state-run systems. This state-by-state patchwork (similar to the post-Prohibition approach to alcohol) was exactly what PASPA had tried to prevent; now it is reality. As of 2025, more than 30 states plus DC have legal sports betting. The competitive dynamics are still shaking out: a few brands have become dominant (DraftKings, FanDuel, BetMGM, Caesars, etc.), while others have consolidated or exited after failing to gain traction. But overall, sports wagering has been integrated into the broader gambling industry, often as a complement to casino gaming and lotteries.

It's worth noting the **context and arguments around the Murphy case**, as they reflect how litigation can pivot on constitutional principles with industry-shaping consequences. New Jersey's

argument was rooted in state sovereignty: they contended PASPA impermissibly forbade the state from repealing its own anti-sports-gambling laws (which New Jersey tried to do). The sports leagues, in contrast, invoked the **Supremacy Clause** and said that Congress was within rights to regulate gambling to protect integrity, etc. The Supreme Court, however, saw PASPA as uniquely coercive because it didn't ban betting nationwide; it just said states couldn't legalize it. Justice Alito quipped that such a direct order to the states "is not easy to imagine" being more of an affront to state sovereigntylawreview.syr.edu. Once PASPA was struck down, not only could New Jersey proceed, but the entire country essentially got an invitation to innovate in sports betting policy. This is a prime example of a legal action (New Jersey's challenge) knocking down a federal barrier and unleashing market forces. It also demonstrates the interactive role of legal action and legislation: after Murphy, we saw a flurry of **legislation at the state level** to establish regulatory structures for sports betting, as well as some federal legislative proposals (none passed so far) for things like minimum standards or integrity fees.

In conclusion, **Murphy v. NCAA (2018)** is to sports betting what Cabazon was to Indian gaming: a court decision that dramatically expanded the scope of legal gambling in the United States. It shows that even long-standing federal policies can be overturned through litigation, especially when circumstances and public opinion have evolved. The Supreme Court's willingness to break with nearly 26 years of PASPA status quo reflected, in part, recognition that billions were being wagered illegally and that states (and sovereign tribal casinos) should have the authority to capture and regulate that activity if they want to. The result is a transformed gaming industry, where a oncetaboo segment (sports gambling) is now a significant component of growth and innovation. Sports books have proliferated, mobile betting apps have introduced gambling to new demographics, and even professional sports broadcasting has integrated betting analytics and odds into programming. None of this would have been possible without the Murphy legal victory – a textbook illustration of how a single Supreme Court case can redirect an entire industry's trajectory.

### The Wire Act and Online Gaming: A Shifting Legal Landscape

Long before internet gambling was even conceivable, the U.S. had laws on the books targeting gambling across state lines. The most famous of these is the Interstate Wire Act of 1961, commonly known as the Wire Act. Enacted as part of an effort to combat organized crime, the Wire Act prohibits using wire communications (historically telephone or telegraph, and by extension the internet) to transmit bets or betting information across state lines for "sporting events or contests." For decades, the Department of Justice (DOJ) interpreted the Wire Act as a broad ban on interstate gambling transmissions of all kinds, not just sports bets. This interpretation made the Wire Act a principal weapon against early online gambling ventures in the 1990s and 2000s – including actions against offshore sportsbook operators who took U.S. bets via the internet, and it cast a shadow over any form of internet wagering.

However, the scope of the Wire Act became a contentious legal question as new forms of online gaming emerged, such as internet lotteries and poker. The statutory text specifically mentions "bets or wagers on any sporting event or contest," but earlier DOJ stances treated it as covering all gambling. A turning point came in 2011, when two states (New York and Illinois) asked the DOJ whether the Wire Act would bar them from selling lottery tickets online to their own residents. In response, the DOJ's Office of Legal Counsel issued a memorandum opinion in late 2011 that reinterpreted the Wire Act to apply only to sports betting and not to other forms of gambling<sup>6</sup>. This was a dramatic legal shift: the DOJ essentially clarified that non-sports betting games (like online poker, casino games, and lotteries) were outside the Wire Act's prohibitions. The immediate practical effect was to "open the doors" for states to launch internet gaming within their borders without fear of federal Wire Act prosecution for interstate data transmission as long as sports bets weren't involved<sup>6</sup>. Indeed, shortly after this 2011 opinion, states such as Delaware, Nevada, and New Jersey moved to legalize online gambling (poker and casino games) or online lottery sales, and they relied on the DOJ's new stance. The 2011 DOJ opinion is often credited with enabling the birth of regulated iGaming in the U.S., starting around 2013, because it removed a major federal obstacle. It also allowed multi-state lottery games (like Powerball) to be sold online by clarifying that the Wire Act was no barrier to lottery transactions that aren't sports wagers.

This harmonious period for online gaming was upended by a political about-face later. **Following a change in administration in 2018, the DOJ reversed its position**. In November 2018 (made public

in early 2019), the DOJ under a new administration issued a new OLC opinion declaring that the Wire Act *does* apply to all forms of interstate gambling transmissions, not just sports. This 2018 opinion essentially said the 2011 interpretation was wrong and that the Wire Act's references to "sporting event or contest" did not limit its scope as much as previously thought. Suddenly, the legal cloud returned for online poker, casino, and lottery operations, especially those that might share liquidity or data across state lines. The 2018 reinterpretation caused substantial anxiety in the gambling industry and among state lotteries. For example, multi-state online poker compacts (such as the agreement among Nevada, Delaware, and New Jersey to share player pools) were put in jeopardy, and states selling lottery tickets online feared that routine routing of data (even if the buyer and seller were in-state, the internet packets might cross state lines) could be deemed a violation. The DOJ initially gave a 90-day grace period in early 2019 for operations to come into compliance with the new view, suggesting that after that it might start enforcement.

This set the stage for yet another legal battle: New Hampshire Lottery Commission v. Barr (later New Hampshire Lottery Commission v. Rosen). The New Hampshire Lottery, soon joined by other affected parties, challenged the DOJ's 2018 interpretation in federal court. In June 2019, a federal district court in New Hampshire ruled in favor of the lottery and online gaming proponents, finding that the Wire Act's prohibitions "apply only to transmissions related to bets or wagers on a sporting event or contest," and setting aside the 2018 OLC opinion<sup>7</sup>. The court essentially reinstated the 2011 interpretation – at least as a matter of law within that jurisdiction – by concluding that Congress only intended the Wire Act to cover sports betting. The DOJ appealed, but in January 2021, the First Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's decision, holding explicitly that the Wire Act is limited to sports gambling and does not reach purely non-sports betting communications. The DOJ then declined to pursue the case to the Supreme Court, effectively ending the controversy for the time being. Thus, as of 2021, the "2018 reversal" was **nullified by court order**, and the 2011 interpretation (sports-only) stands as the prevailing law<sup>7</sup>. Industry observers noted that this litigation and victory removed the renewed uncertainty and allowed online lotteries and interstate poker compacts to proceed with confidence. Indeed, following the court win, additional states like Pennsylvania and Michigan joined the multi-state poker agreement to boost their player liquidity, something they had hesitated to do while the 2018 opinion loomed over them.

The Wire Act saga exemplifies how **shifting interpretations and legal actions directly shape online gaming's viability**. When the law was read broadly, it chilled internet gambling expansion;
when read narrowly by DOJ (and confirmed by courts), it catalyzed growth. It's important to note
that the Wire Act still plays a role: sports betting across state lines remains prohibited unless
explicitly allowed by other federal law (like for horse racing under the Interstate Horseracing Act).
So, while you can have legal sports betting in many states, a bettor in New Jersey cannot place a
wager with a sportsbook server in Nevada, for instance – interstate online sports betting compacts
are not currently feasible because the Wire Act, as interpreted, still covers sports. This means **online sports betting in the U.S. must be intrastate (within state lines)** under current law,
whereas online poker or lotteries can involve cross-border pooling with other states that legalize
those games, thanks to the New Hampshire case outcome. The industry has adapted accordingly:
sports betting companies use geolocation technology to ensure bets only occur where legal and
within state borders, while online poker sites have begun to merge player pools from multiple states
to offer larger games and tournaments once legally permitted.

The legal fights around the Wire Act also highlight the dynamic between the executive branch and the judiciary in interpreting gambling laws. The 2011 and 2018 OLC opinions were not court rulings but rather the DOJ's internal legal stance. It took lawsuits (like New Hampshire's) to get a definitive judicial interpretation that everyone could rely on. This back-and-forth created a period of uncertainty that impacted business decisions; for example, during 2019–2020 some states slowed their consideration of online lottery or poker expansion pending the case's resolution. Once the First Circuit ruled, it "lifted the lid" on the expansion of online gaming again. One private company, IGT (International Game Technology), even filed its own federal lawsuit in 2021 seeking declaratory relief that the Wire Act wouldn't apply to its non-sports operations, as an extra measure of certainty; a Rhode Island federal court indeed confirmed that the Wire Act couldn't be used against IGT's lottery and gaming business<sup>7</sup>.

In summary, the Wire Act's interpretation has been a linchpin in the development of U.S. online gambling. Early DOJ enforcement actions using the Wire Act (for example, prosecutions of offshore sports betting operators like Jay Cohen of World Sports Exchange, who in 2000 was convicted under the Wire Act, and later the infamous "Black Friday" indictments of online poker executives

in 2011) shaped the market by shutting down or deterring unlicensed operators. Those enforcement actions essentially cleared the field for eventual licensed, state-regulated online gaming by eliminating some big gray-market players or pushing them out of the U.S. market. Yet, it was the refined legal interpretation in 2011 – prompted by state inquiries and solidified by litigation – that allowed the *licensed* market to flourish. The 2018 attempted reversal and subsequent litigation reaffirmed how vital a clear legal environment is for this industry. Once resolved in favor of the narrower reading, states have been free to collaborate and innovate in online gambling offerings (e.g., multi-state poker networks, or sharing lottery jackpot games). As of 2025, online casinos and poker are still only legal in a handful of states, but the trend is gradually toward wider adoption, and the certainty provided by the Wire Act court decisions is a key enabling factor.

Looking forward, **federal law in the online gambling space remains an evolving patchwork**. The Wire Act (with its now-limited scope) is one piece; the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act (UIGEA) of 2006 is another law that affects payment processing for online bets, but UIGEA contains exceptions for state-authorized gaming and has been more an enforcement tool to choke off illegal operators' finances rather than a ban on players. The interplay of these laws is complex, but the industry has learned to navigate them through compliance and, when needed, through legal challenges. The New Hampshire case shows that stakeholders like state lotteries are willing to go to court to defend their interests against restrictive interpretations, and in doing so they shape the legal environment for all.

In conclusion, the legal battles over the Wire Act highlight a theme seen throughout gaming's legal history: **old laws meeting new technology** and the necessity of reinterpreting or updating them via legal action. They demonstrate how the judiciary can modernize the understanding of a statute (in this case, effectively limiting a 1961 law to its original intent) to accommodate innovations (internet gambling) that lawmakers in 1961 never imagined. This interplay between law and innovation in gaming will continue, as we'll explore in sections on intellectual property and emerging digital trends.

### **Intellectual Property and Patents in Gaming**

The gaming industry's growth has not only been about casinos and betting laws – it's also been driven by **innovation in games and technology**, which in turn has led to significant intellectual property (IP) disputes. Slot machines, casino game technology, and even the branding of games have all been subjects of patents, trademarks, and copyrights – and when big money is involved, litigation often follows. Legal action in the IP arena has helped shape which games get made, who profits from them, and how freely certain gaming concepts can be used in the industry. In some cases, court decisions have invalidated patents, thereby opening up certain game features for broader use. In others, rulings have enforced IP rights, changing the competitive dynamics among gaming manufacturers. We'll discuss a few notable examples: the **"Wheel of Fortune" slot machine disputes, game mechanic patent fights, and other IP enforcement cases** that have influenced the landscape.

One high-profile patent battle is often referred to as the "battle of the wheel" in slot machines. International Game Technology (IGT), the industry giant behind many popular slots, introduced the famous *Wheel of Fortune* slot machine in the mid-1990s, which featured a spinning prize wheel as a bonus feature. It became one of the most successful slot franchises ever (and notably, IGT had licensed the "Wheel of Fortune" television show brand for it, an important trademark arrangement in its own right). Competitors, naturally, wanted to capitalize on the concept of a bonus wheel. IGT and rival manufacturer Bally Technologies ended up in a series of lawsuits around the 2000s concerning patents on "wheel bonus" games. Bally claimed that IGT's Wheel of Fortune and other wheel bonus slots infringed on Bally's earlier patents for wheel-based bonus games, while IGT counter-sued that Bally's newer wheel games infringed IGT's patents.

In 2008, a notable decision came from a federal court in one of these IGT v. Bally clashes: a judge found Bally's wheel bonus patent claims invalid due to prior art and obviousness – essentially ruling that the concept of a bonus wheel was not novel by the time Bally patented it. Ironically, while this was a win for IGT in that particular suit (IGT wasn't liable to Bally), the reasoning of the decision threatened IGT's own patents as well. The court suggested that "wheel bonus" features had been done before or were obvious extensions, meaning IGT's exclusive rights could also be in jeopardy. This prompted a situation where both companies were motivated to settle their remaining litigation, which they eventually did, to avoid a court outright invalidating more patents (an outcome

that would hurt both parties). The **patent settlement between IGT and Bally** resulted in cross-licensing and peace, but only after the legal test showed that broad patents on common game features might not hold up. The broader industry impact of this was significant: it indicated that certain popular slot features (like spinning wheels, progressive bonus meters, etc.) could be deemed too obvious or already invented to be patentable. This frees up competitors to use similar ideas, spurring competition and variety in game design, albeit within limits.

Another major patent conflict involved IGT and Australian slot-maker Aristocrat Technologies. Aristocrat had obtained patents on certain core slot machine functionalities (one example was a patent on a multi-level progressive jackpot system). Around 2006–2007, Aristocrat sued IGT for infringement of one such patent, and IGT challenged the patent's validity. In *Aristocrat Technologies v. IGT*, IGT ultimately succeeded in getting Aristocrat's patent invalidated – not on obviousness, but on a technicality of U.S. patent law (Aristocrat had missed a filing deadline during the patent process). The Federal Circuit in 2008 ruled that the patent was properly invalidated due to the procedural lapse. This case was a reminder that in the fast-moving casino technology field, patent enforcement can be tricky; even a seemingly important patent can be lost due to legal technicalities. Eventually, IGT and Aristocrat resolved their various disputes with a **cross-licensing agreement in 2010**, effectively exchanging rights and ending litigation. Cross-licensing deals became common among the big slot makers as a way to reduce the risk of a court wiping out a patent or issuing an injunction – instead, they share the IP and focus on competing through innovation.

Aside from manufacturer vs. manufacturer fights, we also see patent assertion entities ("patent trolls") targeting casinos and gaming companies. For example, a company called Rembrandt Gaming Technologies acquired a patent on a "Electronic Second Spin Slot Machine" (essentially a feature where certain symbols hold and the rest re-spin – a secondary spin feature) and in 2018 sued several major casino operators (MGM Resorts, Caesars, Penn National, and slot-maker WMS, among others) claiming their slot machines with re-spin features infringed this patent. Rembrandt alleged that popular slot titles (like *Ghostbusters* or *Wheel of Fortune Triple Spin*) used the patented re-spin invention without permission. This kind of lawsuit put pressure on both game manufacturers and casinos (the latter being customers who just operate the machines) to pay

licensing fees or fight the claims. It illustrates how IP law can reach downstream into the industry – a casino might suddenly face liability for operating a game containing a feature covered by someone's patent. These cases often end in settlements; indeed, the threat of having to remove games from casino floors or pay damages usually leads parties to negotiate a license fee if the patent is credible. However, if a patent is overly broad or deemed obvious (like the wheel bonus case), defendants have shown willingness to take it to court and potentially invalidate the patent. Each such battle subtly alters what features become standard. If a patent is invalidated, that feature (be it a bonus type, a mechanical design, or software method) becomes open for all to use. If it's upheld, the patent holder can extract royalties or block others, which might mean fewer competing games with that feature or higher costs that get passed along.

Intellectual property in gaming isn't just patents. **Trademarks and copyrights** also play a big role, especially as casinos have increasingly turned to branded entertainment to attract customers. The use of popular culture brands in slot machines (e.g., games themed after TV shows, movies, or celebrities) is often done through licensing deals – such as IGT licensing *Wheel of Fortune* from Sony Pictures, or various companies licensing brands like *Game of Thrones, Jurassic Park, Ellen DeGeneres*, etc. When done right, this avoids litigation because the rights are contractually obtained. But there have been instances of disputes: for example, a company might produce a game that is too close to someone else's trademark or likeness without permission. A notable case outside the casino context was **Vanna White v. Samsung Electronics (1993)** where *Wheel of Fortune*'s hostess sued Samsung for a commercial featuring a robot turning letters, implying her likeness – she won on a right-of-publicity claim. In the casino context, one could imagine analogous suits if, say, a game used a famous persona or catchphrase without authorization. Generally, the industry has learned to avoid that via licenses.

Another area of IP conflict has been **game show formats and slot machine adaptations**. Wheel of Fortune is an example where a license was obtained, but consider "Deal or No Deal" or other game show-based machines – there, rights holders usually license out the brand. If they didn't, they could sue for trademark infringement or unfair competition. So one could say the *threat* of legal action has shaped behavior: gaming companies know to secure IP rights or risk a costly lawsuit that could

force them to pull games off the market (a catastrophic outcome given the investment in developing and placing a new slot machine title).

Finally, **software patents and emerging tech**: The gambling industry has some unique tech (random number generators, digital wagering systems, player tracking, etc.) which are often patented. There have been recent cases reflecting new tech trends – for instance, patents regarding cashless wagering systems (using mobile apps or cards instead of cash in slots). A case in 2021 involved IGT and a tech company called **Acres 4.0** over patents for a cashless casino management system. IGT, which held many patents in that space, sued Acres for infringement, but Acres fought back by challenging some of IGT's patents at the U.S. Patent Office. In 2022, the Patent Trial and Appeal Board (PTAB) sided with Acres on some challenges, invalidating certain IGT patent claims. The dispute was eventually settled in 2023 with a licensing deal. The significance is that a new wave of IP litigation can accompany technology shifts (here, the shift to cashless gaming), and the outcomes can either reinforce the dominance of incumbents (if their patents hold) or democratize the technology (if patents are struck down). The **"cashless wagering" patent battles** may spur more innovation and entry if the core concepts are not patent-protected, or conversely, if the big companies maintain strong IP, smaller innovators will need to license or risk litigation.

In conclusion, intellectual property litigation in gaming has had a **tempering effect** on the industry: it defines what innovations can be exclusively owned versus what becomes standard and shared. When IGT and Bally fought and the court hinted "wheel bonuses existed previously", it suggested that some ideas are natural evolutions and not monopolizable – which benefits the industry by allowing many to use a popular feature (so you see wheel bonuses on many manufacturers' games today, not just one company). When patent trolls have tried to claim a cut of the industry by enforcing patents like the "second spin" feature, casinos and manufacturers have sometimes united to fight back, which, if successful, removes a tollbooth from the road of innovation.

Meanwhile, the necessity of licensing trademarks for branded slot machines has created a whole sub-industry of brand licensing deals between Hollywood and gaming companies – lawsuits are fewer there now because the practice of licensing is well-established (though if someone steps out of line, a suit would surely follow).

Another interesting IP dimension: game mechanics patents vs. game math as trade secrets. Some game developers choose not to patent certain mechanics (because patents expire and require disclosure) but rather keep their algorithms secret. This means if a competitor independently develops a similar feature, there might not be a direct patent suit, but there could be allegations of trade secret theft if employees move between companies. While such cases are less public, this legal backdrop encourages companies to implement rigorous IP protections internally and sometimes to sue ex-employees or competitors if they suspect confidential know-how (like a unique slot volatility model or shuffling algorithm) has been misappropriated.

All told, legal actions around IP have **shaped the games we see on casino floors**. The presence of iconic titles like *Wheel of Fortune* slots for over 25 years is due not just to player appeal but solid IP management and enforcement (IGT both licensing the brand and defending its game IP). Features like secondary bonus wheels, cascading reels, multi-tier jackpots, or skill-based gaming elements often travel from one company to another through either licensing deals or because legal battles determined they weren't exclusive to begin with. As the industry moves into new territories – e.g., online social casino games, where we've seen lawsuits about copying game elements from one app to another – the cycle of IP litigation and resolution will continue to influence which innovations can be cloned freely and which require paying the pioneer. Intellectual property law might lack the headline-grabbing drama of a Supreme Court sports betting case, but its quiet power significantly influences competitive advantage and collaboration in the gaming world.

#### Sovereignty and Jurisdiction: Battles Beyond Borders

Gambling often raises thorny questions of **sovereignty and jurisdiction**, because by its nature it can transcend geographic and legal boundaries. We've already touched on tribal sovereignty in the U.S. (where Native American tribes operate under their own sovereign authority, requiring negotiation with states or intervention by Congress and the courts). But sovereignty issues in gaming go beyond tribes. They include conflicts between nations over cross-border online gambling, disputes between federal and state authority, and even tensions in emerging markets where local jurisdictions may clash with national law or with powerful international interests. Legal

actions in this realm have played a crucial role in determining *who* has the right to offer or regulate gambling in a given space and whose laws prevail when there is overlap or conflict.

One of the most prominent international sovereignty disputes in gaming was Antigua and Barbuda v. United States at the World Trade Organization (WTO) in the mid-2000s. Antigua, a small Caribbean nation, had developed a significant online gambling industry serving customers in the U.S. and elsewhere. The U.S., however, through laws like the Wire Act and later UIGEA, effectively shut off that market by prosecuting offshore operators and payment processors, and by maintaining that cross-border internet gambling violated its laws. Antigua sued the U.S. in the WTO, claiming that America's restrictions violated global trade agreements (specifically the General Agreement on Trade in Services, GATS, because the U.S. had made commitments that included gambling services). In 2005, the WTO ruled largely in Antigua's favor: the WTO found that the U.S. was improperly discriminating by allowing domestic companies to offer certain remote betting (like off-track horse race betting via phone/internet under the Interstate Horseracing Act) while barring foreign companies from offering the same. The violation was technical but significant – the U.S. approach to excluding foreign online casinos was deemed inconsistent with its trade obligations. The U.S. eventually refused to change its laws, instead taking the unusual step of withdrawing gambling services from its commitments under GATS to avoid compliance. As compensation, the U.S. had to make concessions to other countries in other trade sectors. Antigua, as a remedy, was authorized by the WTO to impose sanctions – notably, to suspend certain intellectual property protections on U.S. goods up to \$21 million a year. In other words, Antigua got the right to, theoretically, set up services pirating U.S. IP (like music or software) to recoup losses – a unique situation where IP rights became the currency of retaliation.

This **Antigua vs. U.S. WTO case** underscored that gambling had become a global trade issue. While the immediate industry impact was limited (the U.S. did not really change its stance on offshore gambling operators; it continued to prosecute them when possible, as seen in cases like the shutdown of UK-based BetOnSports PLC in 2006 or indictments of Antigua-licensed sites), the case was a symbolic victory for the small nation. It highlighted the plight of jurisdictions whose e-gaming industry was crushed by another country's enforcement of its laws extraterritorially. The dispute also put other countries on notice that inconsistent gambling policies could trigger trade disputes.

For example, the European Union considered action against the U.S. alongside Antigua but settled for other trade concessions. And within the EU itself, similar principles of non-discrimination were invoked by private companies against state gambling monopolies (which we'll address soon). The sovereignty issue here boiled down to: who has the right to offer online gambling to whom? The U.S. insisted on its jurisdiction over American bettors, even if the business was located abroad; Antigua asserted its sovereign right to host and license businesses providing a service internationally. Ultimately, the power imbalance meant the U.S. largely got its way, but not without legal and diplomatic friction. (Incidentally, Antigua's authorized retaliation – essentially permission to disregard U.S. copyrights – lingered unresolved for years, a reminder of a compromise never reached.)

Moving to Europe, the sovereignty question has often played out as state gambling monopolies vs. the European Union's single market freedoms. Many European countries historically had staterun lotteries or betting monopolies and did not allow foreign or private operators. Starting in the 2000s, a string of cases went to the European Court of Justice (ECJ, now the Court of Justice of the EU, CJEU) as private betting companies challenged national restrictions under EU law (which guarantees free movement of services). The legal actions – often brought by companies like Ladbrokes, Betfair, or Stanleybet, or by individuals prosecuted under national law for assisting foreign gambling – forced the ECJ to draw lines between legitimate regulation and protectionist monopoly. The ECJ's jurisprudence (from cases like Gambelli (2003), Placanica (2007), Santa Casa (Liga Portuguesa) (2009), and others) established that: yes, gambling is an economic activity covered by EU law, and restrictions must be justified by compelling public interest reasons (like consumer protection or fraud prevention) and applied consistently. The courts recognized that member states have the right to restrict or even ban gambling to meet social objectives - such as curbing addiction or crime - but they cannot do so in a discriminatory or inconsistent manner. For instance, in the Placanica case, the ECJ struck down Italian rules that completely prevented EU-based betting operators from obtaining licenses, saying Italy couldn't both aggressively expand gambling domestically (to collect revenue) and simultaneously claim a high-minded public order justification to exclude foreign competition. On the other hand, in Liga Portuguesa (2009, involving Bwin and Portugal's Santa Casa monopoly), the ECJ allowed Portugal's online betting monopoly to stand, deferring to the country's choice to channel gambling through a

single controlled entity, given the public interest claims – especially since the foreign operator (Bwin) was not subject to the same oversight and Portugal could legitimately worry about fraud and minors' protection.

The cumulative effect of these legal actions in Europe was a wave of **liberalization and regulatory reform**. Countries like Italy and France moved from pure monopolies to licensing systems for online betting and poker in the late 2000s/early 2010s (albeit with restrictions). Germany's path was more tortured: ECJ decisions led it to attempt a treaty allowing limited licenses; there was backand-forth in courts for years. Sweden and other Scandinavian countries held onto their monopolies longer but eventually, under both court pressure and EU enforcement pressure, opened up licensing for online gambling by 2019. The key was that legal challenges kept governments honest: if a country said "we ban internet casino because of addiction concerns" but then heavily marketed its own state lottery, courts called out that inconsistency single-market-economy.ec.europa.eu. The result was that some countries either had to tighten up (reduce advertising, etc., to prove consistency) or liberalize (allow some competition under regulation). Europe thereby moved towards a more regulated free-market approach in many places due to these cross-border legal fights.

Another sovereignty facet is **international enforcement and the notion of extraterritorial reach**. We saw it with the U.S. enforcing against offshore sites (a challenge to sovereignty of those host countries). Conversely, in recent years China has aggressively enforced its anti-gambling laws beyond its borders in some ways – notably by **arresting employees of foreign casinos who were in China marketing to Chinese high-rollers** (the famous 2016 case of Crown Resorts staff being detained). That wasn't a formal legal case in a Western court sense (no publicly reported litigation, more of police action and prosecution in China), but it had a huge impact on casino operators in Macau, Australia, and elsewhere who traditionally relied on Chinese VIP gamblers. After that incident, companies scaled back their direct marketing in China. It's a reminder that one nation's sovereignty (China's strict anti-gambling stance for its citizens domestically) can collide with another's business model (Australian casinos wanting Chinese customers).

In the online sphere, **the Philippines** became an interesting sovereignty battleground in the late 2010s with its **Philippine Offshore Gaming Operators (POGO)** licensing program. The Philippines

decided to license online casinos that would operate from the Philippines but *not serve Filipino residents* – instead targeting players in China and other countries where online gambling is illegal. This created diplomatic tensions, especially with China, which complained that the Philippines was undermining its laws. Domestically, the Philippines' move also spurred conflicts between regulatory bodies (PAGCOR, the state gaming corporation vs. some economic zones issuing their own licenses). Eventually, pressure including potential money laundering concerns and the pandemic led to a reduction of POGO activity, but it was a striking example of how one jurisdiction's assertion of "it's legal here, and we'll export it to where it's illegal" becomes a legal flashpoint. No straightforward lawsuits decided that one – it was more negotiated and pressured at government levels.

In emerging markets, sovereignty issues often revolve around how open to make the market and who controls it. For instance, **Macau's legal regime** after ending the Stanley Ho monopoly in 2002 was a government-led liberalization: they granted a limited number of concessions to foreign operators, profoundly altering the casino industry (bringing in American companies and creating the world's biggest casino hub). That wasn't spurred by a lawsuit but by policy, yet legal battles have occurred in Macau's corporate sphere – for example, as concessions came up for renewal, or disputes like the case of a rejected license bidder suing (e.g., a Las Vegas businessman sued saying he was cut out of a partnership unjustly; these cases sometimes go through Macau courts or elsewhere). **Singapore** decided to tightly control entry – only two integrated resort licenses – and imposed strict laws (including steep entry levies for local citizens to discourage play). There haven't been major lawsuits because the framework was clearly legislated and the operators abide by it, but one could foresee legal action if, say, the government tried to change terms mid-stream, or if anti-casino groups challenged some regulation (not known to have happened publicly).

In **India**, the question of sovereignty often is about states vs. central authority. Gambling is largely state-regulated in India. Some states allow lotteries, some ban them; casinos exist in only a couple of states. A new frontier has been *online skill gaming vs. gambling*: rummy and fantasy sports have been subjects of court cases. The Supreme Court of India has held rummy to be a game of skill (and thus not gambling per se under law), and in 2021 the High Courts in some states (and later the Supreme Court) ruled that fantasy sports (like Dream11's contests) are skill games, thus legal, even

as some states tried to ban them. These cases are effectively legal actions determining jurisdiction: can a state outlaw what is essentially an online service accessible nationwide, especially if it's deemed not gambling? The outcomes so far favor the fantasy sports companies, limiting states' ability to shut them down arbitrarily. This is shaping a huge industry in India.

Another angle: **jurisdictional grey areas** like cruise ships or "offshore" operations. In the 1990s, there were "cruises to nowhere" from U.S. ports where ships would sail to international waters so gambling could occur. U.S. law eventually explicitly allowed this for ships (an example of legislation following a practice, but there were legal questions initially). Similarly, internet gambling often tries to find jurisdictional safe harbors – tiny nations or reservations that assert they can take bets internationally. Legal action – often enforcement by larger nations – tests and often quashes these if they target people under another nation's jurisdiction.

Sovereignty disputes have also arisen in the context of **regional economic agreements**. Beyond the EU, another example is the **Caribbean Community (CARICOM)** or others, but Antigua's case was the big one. In Latin America, we've seen countries like Argentina historically had provincial lotteries selling into other countries, causing spats.

In sum, sovereignty and jurisdiction legal actions have **shaped the global gaming industry by drawing lines on the map of gambling**: determining which authority governs what gambling
activity. The WTO case nudged the U.S. to exclude gambling from free trade deals (and likely
influenced how future trade agreements were written to carve out gambling). The EU cases opened
markets and created a model where state monopolies had to justify themselves or give way to
licensing. The tribal cases in the U.S. recognized dual sovereignty: tribal and state, leading to a
cooperative regulatory model (compacts). Legal fights in courtrooms or international tribunals have
also highlighted that gambling isn't just a local vice; it's a cross-border service, and conflicts will
occur when one jurisdiction's permissiveness meets another's prohibition. The resolution of these
conflicts – whether through lawsuits, trade sanctions, or negotiated agreements – has determined
the opportunities available to gaming companies and consumers. An offshore operator might thrive
until it's sued or indicted; a country might hold a monopoly until a court forces change. Thus, legal
actions effectively serve as referees when sovereignty collisions occur in the gaming world.

### Regulatory Enforcement and Litigation: Compliance through Courts

Beyond high-profile Supreme Court cases and international disputes, a great deal of legal shaping of the gaming industry happens through **regulatory enforcement actions and litigation brought in that context**. These include government enforcement of anti-crime regulations, as well as lawsuits by patrons and other private actors holding the industry to account. Areas like anti-money laundering (AML) and responsible gambling have seen significant enforcement, often resulting in hefty fines or settlements that prompt better compliance. Likewise, players have occasionally turned to the courts with class-action suits alleging fraud or illegality in gaming operations. While not every lawsuit succeeds, the cumulative effect of these legal challenges has been to improve standards and clarify obligations for gaming operators, as well as to deter and punish misconduct.

#### One major realm is anti-money laundering and Know-Your-Customer (KYC) enforcement.

Casinos, due to the large cash flows they handle, have long been considered potential hubs for money laundering. They are subject to laws like the Bank Secrecy Act in the U.S. and similar AML laws elsewhere, requiring them to report large transactions and suspicious activity. Over the past decade or two, regulators and prosecutors have increasingly taken action against casinos that fail to uphold these laws. For example, in 2013 the U.S. Department of Justice reached a settlement with Las Vegas Sands Corp. (operator of The Venetian and other casinos) after investigating it for receiving funds from a high-roller later linked to drug trafficking. Sands agreed to pay \$47 million and improve its AML procedures in order to avoid criminal charges<sup>8</sup>. In 2015, Caesars Palace in Las Vegas likewise had to pay a \$20 million penalty (to DOJ and FinCEN) for AML lapses, including not properly policing its high-roller sportsbook and VIP program. These cases often come in the form of deferred prosecution agreements or regulatory settlements, rather than courtroom trials, but they are legal actions nonetheless, with filings in court to formalize the agreements. The impact on the industry is significant: big fines and the threat of license loss or prosecution have spurred casinos to invest heavily in compliance departments, transaction monitoring systems, and employee training to detect and report suspicious activities. It's fair to say that the modern casino operates

under far greater scrutiny in terms of source of funds and customer due diligence than in the past, due to these enforcement actions.

Some enforcement cases even venture to extremes: in one instance, a small casino in the Western Pacific (Tinian Dynasty in the Northern Marianas) was fined an eye-popping \$75 million by FinCEN for egregious AML violations including willfully facilitating money laundering. Although that casino couldn't pay and ended up closing, the message was clear. Similarly, the **Trump Taj Mahal** in Atlantic City was penalized \$10 million in 2015 for BSA violations. These serve as warnings and establish legal precedent that casinos are treated like financial institutions under the law and can face heavy punishment if they turn a blind eye to dirty money.

Another enforcement focus has been on illegal gambling operations tied to legitimate businesses. For example, **Cantor Gaming (now CG Technology)**, a sports betting operator in Nevada, got in trouble when one of its executives was implicated in an illegal betting ring. Cantor settled with federal authorities in 2016 for over \$22 million in combined criminal and civil penalties for failing to supervise and report the illicit activity. This kind of action again reinforces compliance responsibility – it's not enough for a company to claim ignorance if internal actors facilitate crimes.

Beyond government enforcement, class-action lawsuits by players or consumers have been another avenue of legal influence. Historically, gamblers who lost money in a casino had little recourse (courts generally don't entertain "I lost money gambling, I want it back" suits). However, when players allege that a game was operated in a fraudulent or unlawful way, courts have shown more openness. For example, in 2018 a series of class-action lawsuits targeted social casino apps (like Big Fish Casino, DoubleDown Casino, Huuuge Casino, etc.), arguing that although they use virtual chips and do not pay out real money, they constitute illegal gambling under certain state laws (notably Washington state's broad definition of "thing of value"). In one landmark case, Kater v. Churchill Downs (2018) in the Ninth Circuit, the court agreed that Big Fish Casino's virtual chips were indeed "something of value" (because they extended gameplay) and thus the games were illegal gambling under Washington law. This bombshell decision led to settlements: the owner Churchill Downs (and later Aristocrat, which bought Big Fish) agreed in 2020 to a \$155 million settlement for players in Washington and elsewhere. Other social casino operators like

combined in 2022 for DoubleDown and IGT in a class action resolution). These class actions have a direct industry effect: they forced companies to modify their products and practices. For Big Fish, part of the settlement agreement even required it to implement tools like voluntary self-exclusion and to adjust game mechanics so that players who run out of chips can continue playing without paying – essentially to undermine the "loss" condition that made it gambling-like. Moreover, some states like Washington saw legislative debate about exempting such games from gambling laws to protect local tech companies; the fact that bills were considered (though they failed at first) shows the impact of the legal victory. Social casino class actions are a novel way that litigation has shaped an offshoot of the gaming sector that wasn't on regulators' radar initially. They also show how consumer protection laws can intersect with gambling – in some cases, these suits use state gambling loss recovery statutes (some states have old laws letting losers sue winners to recover losses, intended to discourage illegal gambling), repurposed for modern apps.

Players have also occasionally filed class actions in more traditional gambling contexts. There's a current (2024) class action suit against IGT and casinos regarding the "Wheel of Fortune" slot machines' bonus wheel. The claim is that the wheel, which appears to have equal slices for various prize amounts, is actually rigged via software to land on lower values more often – essentially alleging misrepresentation and fraud. The lawsuit argues this is the equivalent of a roulette wheel with a hidden magnet as an analogy<sup>9</sup>. If this lawsuit proceeds and succeeds, it could force changes in how bonus probabilities are disclosed to players. Even if it doesn't succeed, it has shone a light on an aspect of electronic gaming: that not all visual elements correspond to equal odds, and lack of disclosure might be deemed deceptive. This is part of a broader trend of transparency being demanded in gaming operations.

Another area where lawsuits have appeared is in sports betting and fantasy sports related to **consumer protections and advertising**. For instance, in the mid-2010s, class actions were filed against DraftKings and FanDuel (daily fantasy sports companies) alleging false advertising or that the games were essentially gambling (when those companies were maintaining they were skill contests). Most of those suits were put on hold or settled low-key, especially after DFS got legalized in many states, mooting some issues. But recently (2023), a class action was filed accusing DraftKings of unfair or deceptive practices in its sportsbook promotions and user experience (e.g.,

"risk-free" bets that aren't risk-free, or design elements that allegedly encourage problem gambling). While it remains to be seen how courts handle these, such litigation pressures sportsbooks to be careful in marketing and product design or face legal consequences akin to consumer finance lawsuits.

Furthermore, federal investigations and indictments have sometimes targeted industry participants for violating gambling laws like the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act (UIGEA) or anti-fraud statutes. The biggest example was the 2011 "Black Friday" indictments of PokerStars, Full Tilt Poker, and Absolute Poker founders for illegally offering online poker to U.S. customers and defrauding banks (under UIGEA). That led to those sites being shut down in the U.S., Full Tilt's collapse and eventual rescue by PokerStars (as part of a DOJ settlement), and a long pause in legal online poker until states began legalizing it years later. Those enforcement actions (technically criminal cases, though mostly ended in settlements and plea deals, not full trials) shaped the industry by effectively clearing the field of offshore operators, which in turn created the conditions for legal markets to be established. The DOJ's aggressive stance at that time also contributed to major online gambling companies like PartyGaming (now part of Entain) settling with the DOJ in 2009 (PartyGaming paid \$105 million to avoid prosecution for its pre-UIGEA activities). These legal actions signaled that companies hoping to enter the U.S. legally later needed to settle their past liabilities – which Party did, and thus was able to partner in New Jersey later, whereas others that did not settle were locked out or faced issues.

On the flip side, some enforcement litigation can also clarify the **limits of gambling laws**. For example, in 2012 a case called **U.S. v. DiCristina** saw a federal judge initially rule that **poker was a game of skill and thus not illegal under the Illegal Gambling Business Act** (a federal law) – a surprising win for poker advocates – though the 2nd Circuit overturned that on appeal, saying IGBA does cover poker, regardless of skill factor. Still, that episode and others keep a legal dialogue going about the nature of certain games. In another area, several states' attorneys general tried to crack down on daily fantasy sports before explicit laws were passed; DraftKings and FanDuel engaged in legal battles in New York (where an injunction was at one point issued against them by a trial court, then stayed pending appeal, then moot when legislature legalized DFS). The legal uncertainty in 2015-2016 around DFS led to many states clarifying their laws, often in favor of the industry but

with consumer protections. So even the *threat* of litigation (like state AGs calling DFS illegal gambling) propelled legislative action.

In summary, regulatory enforcement actions and private litigation serve as the **guardian at the gate** for the gaming industry's integrity and consumer trust. When casinos or gaming companies falter in compliance – whether facilitating money laundering, deceiving customers, or operating unlawfully – legal actions bring them to heel and often impose reforms. The industry today is safer and more transparent thanks to these cases: e.g., you now see clearer disclosures on odds in many jurisdictions, rigorous AML programs in casinos, easier self-exclusion options for patrons, and more diligent advertising standards (as regulators and lawsuits have scrutinized "risk-free" claims and the like). Legal actions reinforce that the license to operate gambling is a privilege that comes with heavy responsibilities. Failure to meet those responsibilities can mean anything from multi-million dollar fines to class action payouts to loss of market access – stark consequences that industry stakeholders are keenly aware of. Thus, even though such enforcement and litigation might not grab headlines like Supreme Court cases, they steadily shape operational norms and the culture of compliance across the global gaming industry.

### Key Corporate Legal Battles: Competition and Corporate Governance in Gaming

Legal action in the gaming industry isn't limited to governments and players – some of it occurs directly between companies. **Corporate legal battles** in gaming have helped define competitive boundaries, intellectual property ownership, market share, and even the structure of the industry via mergers and acquisitions. In this section, we look at a few examples: patent and trade secret fights among slot machine manufacturers (touched on in the IP section but worth a recap here in a corporate context), litigation surrounding the rise of daily fantasy sports and its convergence with sports betting, and antitrust cases involving casino mergers or market competition.

One corporate battle already discussed was the **IGT vs. Bally wheel patent saga**. From a corporate perspective, that fight was about two major slot manufacturers dueling for dominance in a lucrative segment (participation slots with popular bonus features). The legal outcome – patents being

invalidated or narrowed – forced a detente (settlement), which arguably benefited the industry by preventing one company from monopolizing a beloved game feature. It also perhaps saved both companies from costly ongoing litigation; instead, they turned to innovation and marketing to compete. In the years since, IGT and Bally (which got acquired by Scientific Games, now Light & Wonder) both thrive and continue to introduce new features, often carefully vetting each other's patents first to avoid another courtroom fight.

Another significant corporate legal tussle was not in court per se but in the merger arena: DraftKings and FanDuel, the two largest daily fantasy sports (DFS) operators, agreed to merge in 2016. However, in 2017 the U.S. Federal Trade Commission (FTC), along with two state attorneys general, moved to block the merger on antitrust grounds, filing a complaint to stop it. The FTC argued that the combined firm would control over 90% of the U.S. market for paid DFS contests, creating a near-monopoly and depriving consumers of the benefits of competition. Facing the FTC's litigation (and after a court issued a temporary restraining order halting the merger), DraftKings and FanDuel abandoned the deal. This legal intervention preserved competition in the DFS space at the time, which arguably later helped consumers by keeping promotions and innovation robust. Interestingly, post-Murphy (after 2018), both companies pivoted to sports betting and online casino, where they now compete not only with each other but with traditional casino-backed firms. One could speculate that had they merged, that single entity might have become even more dominant in the broader online betting world, raising different competitive concerns. Thus, the FTC's legal action indirectly shaped the online sports betting market landscape by ensuring two aggressive rivals instead of one behemoth. It's a reminder that antitrust law does apply to gaming just as to other industries, and regulators will step in to prevent excessive consolidation.

Antitrust concerns also arose in the traditional casino industry consolidation. A major recent example was Eldorado Resorts' \$17.3 billion acquisition of Caesars Entertainment in 2020, which created the largest U.S. casino company. The FTC reviewed this merger and identified competition concerns in certain regional markets (specifically, the South Lake Tahoe area and the Shreveport/Bossier City area in Louisiana). The FTC required Eldorado (now using the Caesars name) to divest casinos in those areas to preserve competition. Eldorado agreed, selling properties (MontBleu in Lake Tahoe and Eldorado Shreveport) to a smaller operator, Twin River (now

Bally's Corp.). This condition was formalized in an FTC order and illustrates how legal processes ensure that even if big companies merge, they don't create local monopolies that could hurt customers with higher prices (e.g., worse odds or lower promotions) or employees with lower wages due to lack of alternatives. In other deals, Penn National's 2018 acquisition of Pinnacle Entertainment similarly involved required divestitures of some casinos to Boyd Gaming, again to avoid overly high market concentration in certain states. These antitrust-enforcement-driven sales have allowed new competitors to enter some markets, such as Bally's expanding via those acquisitions, thus maintaining a dynamic market.

Corporate litigation in gaming can also include **shareholder disputes and governance battles**. For instance, one ongoing saga has been at **Wynn Resorts**: when founder Steve Wynn left in 2018 amid misconduct allegations, there were lawsuits related to those events and Wynn's subsequent stock sales due to a prior shareholder agreement with ex-wife Elaine Wynn (that case settled eventually). Additionally, years earlier, Wynn fought a fierce legal battle with Japanese tycoon Kazuo Okada, who had been a major shareholder. Wynn's board forcibly redeemed Okada's shares in 2012 citing improprieties (alleged bribes in the Philippines), leading to litigation in Nevada that dragged on for years (it was settled only in 2018). These cases, while very company-specific, had broader implications: the Okada matter, for example, highlighted Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) concerns in casino expansion (Okada's alleged bribery in the Philippines put Wynn in potential jeopardy). That saga possibly contributed to more cautious compliance by casino firms when dealing abroad. It also indirectly paved the way for Okada to pursue projects separate from Wynn (like Okada Manila, which had its own dramatic corporate governance fight in 2022 as mentioned earlier).

In the realm of **lotteries and vendors**, corporate disputes sometimes flare up as well (though often resolved via arbitration or settlements). For example, lottery technology providers IGT and Scientific Games have traded lawsuits over contract awards or trade secrets in the past, though those are less public.

Another interesting corporate legal issue involved casinos suing other entities for liability reasons. Notably, after the tragic **October 1, 2017 mass shooting in Las Vegas** (Route 91 Festival shooting from Mandalay Bay hotel), MGM Resorts took the unusual step of filing **declaratory lawsuits** 

against over a thousand victims in federal courts to assert that a post-9/11 federal law (the SAFETY Act) immunized them from liability (because they had a certified security vendor). This proactive legal strategy was widely criticized in the media; MGM eventually settled with victims (paying \$800 million) and dropped the suits. It goes to show how a corporation might try to use legal action offensively to limit liability exposure in the face of massive potential claims.

In the area of **sports betting partnerships and exclusivity**, we might anticipate future corporate legal tussles too – for instance, if a league or data provider is accused of anticompetitive conduct with official data feeds, etc., though nothing major has hit courts yet as of 2025.

Corporate legal battles in gaming ultimately shape who competes and on what terms. Patent litigation clarifies who can use which technology. Antitrust litigation defines industry structure. Shareholder and governance suits can lead to leadership changes or corporate splits (for example, part of the Okada fallout was Wynn Resorts cutting ties and Okada's Universal eventually spinning off its interests). As gaming becomes more tech-driven and consolidated, we can expect corporate law to remain a battlefield. Perhaps the next frontier is Big Tech's entry into gaming or media/sports betting convergence – any such moves could trigger antitrust scrutiny and lawsuits about market power leveraging. The industry's biggest players are now multi-jurisdictional corporations (MGM, Caesars, Sands, Flutter (FanDuel), Entain (BetMGM partner), etc.) so global mergers (like a hypothetical merger of two betting giants) would even get UK or EU antitrust review beyond U.S. FTC.

In summary, corporate legal fights – whether against each other or against regulatory agencies – have meaningfully influenced the competitive landscape of gambling. They've prevented single-company dominance in key segments (DFS, slot features), allowed new competitors to gain footholds (casino divestitures), and kept companies on their toes regarding innovation vs. IP risk. They serve as a reminder that while gambling enterprises are often high-risk in business terms, they must also calculate legal risk in their competitive strategies. Those that succeed often do so not just by winning in the market, but by wisely navigating (or ending) the legal battles that could undermine their position.

### Global Precedents: International Case Law and Regulatory Models

While much of our focus has been on the United States, legal actions around the world have similarly shaped their local gaming industries – and in some cases influenced thinking beyond their borders. In this section, we briefly survey a few **landmark international examples**, including European case law on gambling monopolies (some of which we touched upon), notable disputes in Asia (such as regulatory models in Macau and legal fights in the Philippines), and other global precedents that stand out. These examples underscore that the interplay of law and gaming is a global phenomenon, and jurisdictions often learn from each other's legal outcomes.

**Europe – the EU and ECHR:** Europe, with its patchwork of national laws and the overlay of EU law, has provided a rich body of gambling jurisprudence. We've discussed the EU Court of Justice rulings which essentially established that member states could maintain gambling monopolies or heavy restrictions **if and only if** they are genuinely aimed at public interest objectives and applied consistently. If not, they run afoul of the EU's free movement principles. Several specific cases are often cited as milestones:

- **Schindler (1994)** one of the earliest, upholding a UK ban on foreign lottery ticket imports, acknowledging gambling's special status (moral/social concerns can justify restrictions).
- Läärä (1999) and Zenatti (1999) these upheld Finnish and Italian restrictive regimes respectively, but with caution that justifications must align with practice.
- **Gambelli (2003)** a turning point, where the ECJ struck down Italian enforcement against foreign bookmakers' agents, finding Italy's expansive gambling operations (to raise revenue) undermined its public-order justifications. This case basically warned states: you can't have it both ways (profiting from gambling and excluding others under a morality pretext).
- Placanica (2007) building on Gambelli, the ECJ held Italy's refusal to issue licenses to certain types of companies (foreign-listed ones) was against EU law. It forced Italy to open up licenses more (leading to more competition in Italian sports betting).

- Liga Portuguesa de Futebol (Santa Casa) (2009) as mentioned, upheld Portugal's monopoly in online betting, carving out that if a state truly pursues objectives consistently (Portugal wasn't aggressively expanding gambling), a monopoly can stand.
- Markus Stoß and Carmen Media (2010) a combined ruling for German cases, further
  emphasizing consistency. Germany's system was criticized because it advertised state
  lotteries heavily while saying the monopoly was to curb addiction. That led to Germany
  trying a new interstate treaty allowing limited competition (though Germany's path has been
  complicated).
- Dickinger & Ömer (2011) concerning Austria's online monopoly; ECJ said it's problematic
  if monopolies are accompanied by advertising that encourages gambling again,
  consistency issue.
- SJEB et al. (2016) a later case in which the ECJ gave member states wide berth on online gambling regulation, indicating that lack of EU harmonization means each state can decide risk levels and there's no mutual recognition required.

The aggregate result of this litigation across Europe was a trend toward regulated liberalization: many countries decided it was better to license and regulate (and tax) multiple operators rather than fight in court to preserve strict monopolies. Today, the UK (even outside EU now) has a famously open licensed market (since 2005 law). France moved from monopoly to licensing for sports betting and poker in 2010 (though not online casino). Italy opened most games to licensed competition. Spain did similar around 2011. Smaller countries like Denmark, Belgium, etc., also moved to licensing. Some countries still maintain certain monopolies (often for lottery or retail casinos), but offer online licenses for other games. Sweden in 2019 ended its online monopoly and introduced licensing after seeing channelization issues and ECJ pressure. Thus, the legal actions by private companies and referrals by national courts to the ECJ were a catalyst for change. US policymakers looking at sports betting or online gaming have sometimes studied Europe's experience, noting that a competitive but regulated model can work and actually improve consumer protection (channeling players to safer, monitored operators). In that sense, EU case law indirectly influenced the rationale behind some U.S. states' embracing of online betting: demonstrating that keeping gambling illegal or monopolized doesn't stop play, it just pushes it underground or abroad.

**Asia – Macau, Singapore, Philippines:** In Asia, the legal contexts differ by country, but a few highlights:

Macau: Macau was a Portuguese territory until 1999. For decades (1962-2002), casino gaming was run exclusively by Stanley Ho's company under a government-granted monopoly. When Macau returned to China, the new Macau SAR government decided to end the monopoly to attract foreign investment and more tourists. In 2002, Macau held a bidding process and issued casino concessions to two additional entities (Wynn Resorts and a partnership that became Sands China), which through sub-concessions became six operators including MGM, Melco Crown, and SJM (Ho's company restructured). This was not the result of a lawsuit but a policy/legal decision to liberalize. The subsequent explosive growth of Macau (surpassing Las Vegas in revenue by 2006) validated that legal choice. The contractual and regulatory framework set then has governed Macau's casino industry since. Legal issues did arise – for instance, a losing bidder Asian American Entertainment Corp. (run by a former Ho associate) sued in Macau claiming it was wrongfully cut out of a partnership with Las Vegas Sands during the bid. That case stretched years and was finally ruled in favor of Sands in 2022 by a Macau court, which rejected the \$12 billion claim for damages. This shows how even a licensing decision can spawn lengthy litigation if an interested party feels aggrieved. Also, as Macau's first 20-year concessions expired in 2022, a new public tender was held; the government could legally reduce or change concessionaires. All six incumbents won renewal (plus a seventh applicant was passed over), avoiding a potentially major legal shakeup. But the renewal came with new legal conditions (like investments in non-gaming). So, Macau's industry has been shaped by administrative law and contract decisions more than court battles – yet those decisions themselves were influenced by observing global practices (Macau invited foreign firms seeing Vegas's success) and by Macau's unique status under Chinese sovereignty (able to legalize casinos while they remain illegal in mainland China). One notable "sovereignty" type dispute was Macau versus the U.S. regarding money flows: U.S. regulators pressured Macau (via enforcement on Las Vegas Sands and Wynn) to crack down on junket operators and money laundering, which Macau authorities eventually did with stricter regulations (especially after some scandals and a mainland Chinese anti-corruption drive).

- Singapore: Singapore long had strict anti-gambling laws but decided in the 2000s to allow two "Integrated Resorts" (casinos) to boost tourism, with heavy regulation to curb social harm (entry levies for citizens, exclusion orders, no locals credit, etc.). The government awarded these two licenses to Las Vegas Sands (Marina Bay Sands) and Genting (Resorts World Sentosa) around 2006 after a careful RFP process. There wasn't major litigation in public, likely because the process was government-run with clear criteria. Singapore's model is often cited in other countries debating casinos: limited licenses, high-end resorts, and stringent rules. Legally, it demonstrated that a tightly controlled introduction of casinos could be politically and socially palatable, and that the law can build in protective measures (like the Family Exclusion orders where families can apply to bar a problem gambler relative from entry, and the Casino Control Act setting very high compliance expectations). Singapore also took a hard line on online gambling, passing the Remote Gambling Act 2014 to ban internet betting, with very narrow exemptions for state-linked operators. This legal stance actually influenced others in the region (Cambodia, Vietnam, etc., see Singapore as a model of balancing economic benefits and social regulation).
- Philippines: The Philippines has a more laissez-faire patchwork environment. PAGCOR, a government corporation, operates casinos and also regulates some aspects of gaming, alongside special economic zones like Cagayan (which licensed online gambling targeting other countries). Legal battles have occurred between PAGCOR and local governments or private firms. One long-running case was Philweb Corp. a private e-games café operator whose license renewal was stalled in 2016 after the President railed against its owner. Philweb's stock plunged and operations halted; eventually, after legal and political wrangling, Philweb sold to new owners and got back in business, illustrating how regulatory decisions (even influenced by politics) can cause legal uncertainty for investors. Another example: Okada Manila as mentioned a corporate takeover in 2022 where Kazuo Okada briefly seized physical control of the casino based on a status quo court order, only to have it reversed by the Philippine Supreme Court and other legal processes by year-end, restoring it to the previous management. That saga combined corporate governance issues with swift injunctive relief a reminder that courts can be pulled into boardroom fights,

- which for a large casino can have immediate operational implications (there were concerns about stability and compliance at the property during the takeover).
- Australia: It's worth noting Australia had a precedent in the 1980s the Walsh v.
  Queensland (1984) case, which went to the High Court and established that Australian states could not levy taxes on racing bets placed outside their state (on constitutional free trade grounds). This eventually led to a nationwide pooling system and, decades later, an environment where online bookmakers licensed in one state can take customers nationally (with states instead charging point-of-consumption levies nowadays). That legal principle of interstate trade also influenced the U.S. argument in Murphy (though U.S. courts didn't cite Australia, the concept of states not discriminating heavily was parallel).

**Other International**: In South America, several countries have had legal disputes about gambling legality. For instance, Brazil's prohibition on most gambling has faced challenges and bills but no major change yet – however, a 2020 Supreme Federal Court decision confirmed that states can run lotteries even though a federal law had given Union a monopoly, striking that law as unconstitutional. That opened Brazil's huge market to more competition in lotteries and is a sign of liberalization momentum (Brazil also legalized sports betting in 2018 but was slow to implement).

Africa: Many countries have liberalized gambling since the 90s, with South Africa being an example: gambling was largely illegal under apartheid (except in homelands), then legalized in 1996 through a new law. There have been legal fights particularly over online gambling (South Africa bans online casino, and enforcement is a challenge, with occasional high-profile busts). Kenya had drama with taxation of betting stakes that led its largest operator SportPesa to briefly exit the market in 2019, a dispute resolved with new tax law after court appeals – demonstrating how taxation (if set arguably punitively) can become a legal conflict that shapes the market viability.

WTO beyond Antigua: After Antigua's win, other countries considered similar actions. Costa Rica (home to many online sportsbooks) complained about the U.S., but didn't press a case. The EU took a different approach via negotiation, as mentioned. There was also a WTO case involving horse race betting: the U.S.-Antigua case itself noted an inconsistency – that U.S. federal law allowed states to authorize interstate off-track betting on horse races via the Interstate Horseracing Act, which the WTO said the U.S. unfairly allowed domestically but not for foreign firms. The U.S.

disagreed with that interpretation, but this nuance shows how trade law scrutinizes even fine details of gambling statutes.

**Human Rights angle**: The European Court of Human Rights (ECHR) has occasionally been involved in gambling cases, usually with plaintiffs claiming a government taking or unfair trial in gambling licensing. One case, **Mutu and Pechstein v. Switzerland (2018)**, not exactly gambling but sports law, recognized some rights for athletes in arbitration. In gambling context, the ECHR tends to uphold state's wide margin of appreciation to regulate gambling. For example, a Romanian slot hall company lost an ECHR claim that its license cancellation violated property rights (the court said gambling license is not property in the same strong sense).

In conclusion, international legal actions – whether in courts or trade bodies – have spurred liberalization in some places and justified strict regulation in others, depending on prevailing values and evidence. These global precedents often serve as lessons or justifications in debates elsewhere. For instance, when Japan debated introducing casinos (they passed a law in 2016 to allow them), they looked to Singapore's legal model extensively. When the U.S. considered how to regulate internet gambling, proponents pointed to the U.K. licensing system and EU enforcement as evidence that regulation can work better than prohibition. Conversely, opponents might cite how some countries still restrict gambling tightly to prevent social ills. Thus, the **comparative law perspective** is valuable in gaming: jurisdictions frequently cite each other (directly or through experts) in legislative hearings and sometimes even in court filings (like to show a measure is or isn't needed).

The global trend driven by these legal actions is toward more structured, well-regulated gaming markets. Complete prohibition has been hard to maintain in the face of demand and technology (the legal actions often expose the futility or inconsistency of prohibitions). Monopolies have had to defend themselves by genuinely embracing the public interest or give way to competition with oversight. And innovative new forms (like fantasy sports, e-sports betting, etc.) are coming under legal frameworks rather than existing in a Wild West – often spurred by initial disputes that highlight their ambiguous status. As gambling continues to globalize (consider the rise of crypto-casinos or offshore online betting accessible anywhere), international cooperation and legal principles established in one forum (like WTO or EU or multi-national treaties) could become even more

crucial. The story is ongoing, but the precedents set thus far provide a roadmap of what works and what pitfalls to avoid for jurisdictions crafting gambling laws in the 21st century.

## **Tables & Summaries**

To crystallize the discussion, the following tables provide summaries of major legal cases and disputes that have shaped the gaming industry, both in the U.S. and internationally, as well as key intellectual property battles within the industry. These tables list the case or dispute, the year and parties involved, the outcome, and the impact on the industry.

Table 1: Landmark U.S. Gaming Court Cases (Case – Year – Parties – Outcome – Industry Impact)

Case	Parties	Outcome	Industry Impact
(Year)			
California	Cabazon	Supreme Court held state	Led directly to Indian Gaming
v. Cabazon	&	gambling laws (if regulatory, not	Regulatory Act (1988) and
Band	Morongo	criminal) don't apply on tribal	explosion of tribal casinos
(1987)	Bands vs.	lands. Overturned state's attempt	nationwide, affirming tribal
	State of	to shut tribal gaming.	sovereignty in gaming.
	Californi		
	а		
Seminole	Seminole	Supreme Court struck down	Gave states upper hand in Class III
Tribe v.	Tribe vs.	IGRA's provision allowing tribes to	casino compact negotiations;
Florida	State of	sue states (state sovereign	some compacts stalled. Tribes
(1996)	Florida	immunity upheld). States cannot	had to seek other remedies or
		be forced into compacts.	await state consent, slowing
			casino expansion in some areas.
Murphy v.	New	Supreme Court invalidated PASPA	Opened floodgates for legal sports
NCAA	Jersey	(1992 federal sports betting ban)	betting across the U.S.; by 2025,
(2018)	(Governo	as unconstitutional	30+ states have sportsbooks.
	r Murphy)		Huge new market for casinos,

	vs. NCAA	commandeering. States free to	online operators, media
	& sports	legalize sports betting.	partnerships. Federalism in
	leagues		gambling reaffirmed.
New	NH	First Circuit affirmed Wire Act	Preserved legality of state online
Hampshire	Lottery &	applies only to sports bets,	lotteries, poker, and iGaming
Lottery v.	NeoPolla	voiding 2018 DOJ opinion	compacts across state lines. Gave
Barr (2019)	rd vs.	extending it to all gambling.	clarity and green light for interstate
	U.S. DOJ		online gambling liquidity (except
			sports).
Kater v.	Cheryl	9th Circuit held Big Fish Casino's	Triggered \$155M settlement and
Churchill	Kater	virtual chips are "thing of value,"	similar suits. Spurred industry-
Downs	(player)	making the games illegal	wide changes to social casino
(2018, 9th	vs.	gambling under WA law.	apps' mechanics and warnings.
Cir.)	Churchill		Highlighted legal risk for virtual
	Downs		gambling games.
	(Big Fish		
	Games)		
Bownes v.	Slot	Alleges Wheel of Fortune slot's	If successful, could mandate
IGT (2024,	players	bonus wheel is rigged	disclosure of odds on electronic
pending) –	(class)	(predetermined odds not	bonus games and force changes in
"Wheel of	vs. IGT &	matching wheel segments). Case	how slots display outcomes.
Fortune"	casinos	pending – no outcome yet.	Already raises questions on game
slots class			transparency to players.
action			

Table 2: Major International Gaming Disputes

Dispute /	Parties /	Outcome	Impact on Industry
Case	Jurisdict		
(Year)	ion		

Antigua–	Antigua	WTO ruled U.S. online	U.S. withdrew gambling from WTO
US Online	&	gambling restrictions breached	commitments (2007) instead of
Gambling	Barbuda	trade commitments	changing law. Set precedent for
WTO Case	vs.	(discriminated against foreign	gambling as trade issue. Antigua's
(2005)	United	gambling services). Authorized	industry still hurt; token
(2003)	States		compensation via IP rights but dispute
		Antigua to retaliate up to	
	(WTO)	\$21M/year in U.S. IP sanctions.	highlighted conflict between national
			law and global trade.
Gambelli	Italian	ECJ struck down Italy's	Pushed many EU countries to
&	governm	blocking of EU bookmakers:	liberalize sports betting and online
Placanica	ent vs.	restrictions not justified if state	gambling with licensing. Established
(2003 &	Stanleyb	expands gambling for revenue.	principle that gambling laws must be
2007, ECJ)	et &	In Placanica, ECJ said Italy's	consistent with claimed goals,
	others	license rules breached EU law,	curbing protectionism.
	(EU)	forcing it to open licensing.	
Liga	Bwin &	ECJ upheld Portugal's online	Affirmed that state monopolies can
Portugues	Portugue	betting monopoly (Santa	stand if truly for public order. Slowed
a (Santa	se Liga	Casa), deferring to public	liberalization in some EU states (gave
Casa)	vs.	interest justification (fraud	cover to monopolies), but also
(2009,	Portugal	prevention, addiction) since	pressed monopolies to behave
ECJ)	(EU)	Portugal's policy was	consistently (e.g., moderate
		consistent.	advertising).
Australian	U.S. vs.	WTO noted U.S. allowed	Highlighted hypocrisy in gambling
WTO case	Antigua	domestic interstate horse race	laws; pushed U.S. to explicitly exclude
on racing	case	betting but not foreign, a	horse racing from any concession to
(1998) –	finding	discriminatory inconsistency.	Antigua. Emphasized need for
reference	(re: horse	U.S. disagreed with	consistency – an argument
	racing)	interpretation, but it was part	subsequently used by reform
		of decision.	advocates.

Okada	Kazuo	Philippine Supreme Court	Resolved a high-profile corporate
Manila	Okada	lifted status quo order that had	fight, restoring investor confidence.
ownership	vs. Tiger	allowed Okada to seize control;	Underscored the importance of clear
dispute	Resort/U	ruled he was properly removed	corporate governance for casino
(2022,	EC	from company. Control	licenses. Philippine regulators
Philippine	(Philippin	returned to previous	learned to intervene cautiously during
s)	es	management.	corporate disputes to ensure stability.
	courts)		
Germany	EU	Not one case, but EU pressure	Demonstrated difficulty of reconciling
Sports	Commis	& ECJ cases (e.g., Markus Stoß,	state monopoly tradition with EU law.
Betting	sion &	Ince) held Germany's tight	Eventually led to Germany's 2021
Monopolie	private	limits inconsistent (while	Interstate Treaty legalizing online
s	operator	allowing lotteries/casinos).	casino and poker under regulation – a
(multiple,	s vs.	Germany revised treaties	big shift influenced by years of legal
2010s)	German	multiple times, eventually	battles.
	States	allowing some sports betting	
	(EU)	licenses.	

**Table 3: Intellectual Property & Patent Cases in Gaming** 

Patent / IP	Parties	Ruling/Outcome	Industry Implications
Dispute			
(Year)			
IGT vs.	IGT vs.	Court ruled Bally's bonus	Opened up use of "wheel spin" bonus
Bally –	Bally	wheel patent claims invalid	feature industry-wide (no one
"Wheel	Technologi	as obvious (prior art existed).	company could enforce exclusivity).
Bonus"	es (U.S.	Sided with IGT on that issue.	Encouraged cross-licensing among
Patents	District	Cases settled before further	slot makers. Cautionary tale that
(2008)	Court,	trials.	aggressive patent wars can backfire by
	Nevada)		invalidating patents.

Aristocrat A	Aristocrat	Aristocrat sued IGT on	Settled scope of IP rights between
v. IGT	eisure vs.	multiple slot patents (e.g. a	major slot rivals. Cross-licensing
(2007–	GT (U.S.	jackpot feature); IGT	allowed both to use each other's
2010) – a	and	countered. One key	innovations, accelerating game
multi- A	Australia)	Aristocrat U.S. patent	development. Showed that patent
jurisdictio		invalidated on procedural	portfolios are negotiation tools;
n		grounds (late filing).	outright court wins can be uncertain
		Eventually, global	due to technicalities.
		settlement in 2010 with	
		cross-licensing.	
Rembrand R	Rembrandt	Rembrandt claimed patent	Brought attention to patent trolls in
t Gaming G	Gaming	on "electronic second spin"	gaming. Casinos realized they too can
v. WMS & (p	patent	slot feature; sued slot maker	be targets of IP suits (as end-users of
Casinos h	nolder) vs.	and casinos using games	tech). Likely prompted more rigorous
(2018) – V	VMS,	with that feature. Litigation	indemnification clauses in supplier
"re-spin" M	ИGM,	led to settlements	contracts and prior art searches for
C	Caesars,	(undisclosed) or ongoing	game features.
P	Penn, etc.	proceedings; no major court	
		verdict public.	
Acres v. 10	GT vs.	IGT sued Acres alleging	Resolved uncertainty over new
IGT (2022) A	Acres	infringement of multiple	cashless gaming technology. Smaller
- Cashless M	1anufactu	patents on cashless casino	innovators (Acres) gained freedom to
Tech ri	ing	management systems.	operate, possibly paying royalties.
Patents		Acres petitioned USPTO to	Demonstrated that established firms'
		invalidate IGT patents; PTAB	broad patents can be challenged,
		invalidated some claims.	influencing how new technology
		The parties reached a	(cashless, digital) is adopted across
		settlement with IGT	industry – likely with cross-licenses
		licensing Acres (2023).	rather than exclusive hold.

Vanna	Vanna	9th Circuit held Samsung	Signaled to gaming companies that
White v.	White	liable for infringing White's	using famous likenesses or
Samsung	(Wheel of	right of publicity by using	trademarks without permission (for
(1993) –	Fortune	robot resembling her in ad.	slots or marketing) risks legal action.
likeness/I	hostess)	(Not a gaming case, but	Since then, there's heavy licensing of
P (related)	vs.	often cited in casino context	brands for slot machines (e.g., show
	Samsung	regarding using celebrity	themes, celebrities) to avoid IP
	(Not	images).	lawsuits.
	gaming-		
	specific		
	but		
	adjacent)		

These tables reinforce how varied legal challenges – from constitutional law to patent claims – have interacted to mold the gaming industry's current form. They serve as a quick reference to the pivotal points where law and gaming intersected.

## **Future Outlook: Emerging Legal Battlegrounds**

As the gaming industry continues to evolve with technology and societal changes, so too will the legal landscape. Looking ahead, several emerging areas seem poised for legal battles and regulatory scrutiny. These include esports and skill-based competitions, which raise questions about gambling vs. skill and match-fixing enforcement; gamification and loot boxes in video games, which have already sparked lawsuits and regulatory debates globally; cryptocurrency and blockchain-based betting platforms (including NFTs and Web3 "casinos"), which operate in legal grey zones; and the increasing use of artificial intelligence and biometric data in gaming, which will test privacy laws and anti-discrimination principles. We'll explore how lawsuits or regulatory actions might shape these nascent areas, just as they have done in more traditional realms of gambling.

- Esports Betting and Skill Contests: Competitive video gaming (esports) has exploded in popularity, with tournaments offering multi-million dollar prizes. With that has come the natural desire of fans to bet on matches, as well as the development of fantasy esports and other novel wagering formats. Legally, esports betting often falls under sports betting regulations, but there are wrinkles: the age of many esports competitors is under 18, raising integrity and ethical issues; match-fixing in esports has already been documented, and enforcement is challenging across international lines. We can expect legal actions to increase around esports integrity – for example, prosecutions of players or betters involved in fixing (some small cases have occurred in Korea and Australia). Additionally, state regulators might have to adjust rules (most U.S. states that legalized sports betting allow esports either explicitly or by interpretation, but not all; some have age restrictions for esports bets). Another angle is skill gaming platforms: companies offering competitions for cash in games of skill (from casual mobile games to potentially esports-like contests). These toe the line of gambling law – if truly skill, they're usually legal even without gambling licenses. But lawsuits could emerge if, say, a user claims the games are misrepresented as skill when they're partly chance, or if a state deems certain popular skill games (like some auto-battler games) to actually be chance. As esports blurs the line between game and gambling (with things like skin betting scandals, where virtual items are wagered, leading to a notable lawsuit against Valve in 2016 that was settled), the legal system will be tasked with drawing lines. Likely, we'll see enforcement to ensure betting around esports is channeled to licensed operators (cracking down on rogue skin-betting sites), and perhaps consumer protection suits if underage gambling in esports environments isn't controlled.
- Loot Boxes and Microtransactions: A huge issue of the late 2010s and early 2020s has been whether loot boxes in video games constitute gambling. Loot boxes are random reward mechanisms (e.g., spend \$2 for a box that could contain a common or rare item). Some jurisdictions (Belgium, Netherlands) declared them gambling and banned or restricted them; others have taken softer approaches (requiring odds disclosure, as China does, or considering labeling and parental controls). In the U.S., we've seen a few classaction lawsuits by parents claiming loot boxes are an illegal lottery targeting minors or that they violate consumer protection laws (for instance, suits against EA for FIFA and Madden

"Ultimate Team" packs). These suits haven't yet hit a final decision on the merits – some were withdrawn or settled quietly, others dismissed because the plaintiffs' claims (like loss of value) are hard to quantify. But lawmakers in the U.S. have proposed bills to regulate or ban loot boxes for minors. We can expect continued legal pressure here: if the industry doesn't self-regulate sufficiently, new laws or a big court ruling could impose change. The future might bring a precedent whether loot boxes are legally considered "value" (some argue since you can't directly cash out the items, it's not gambling; but plaintiffs argue the items have value to players and secondary markets exist). A court acknowledging secondary market value could transform legal analysis. Internationally, if more countries ban or restrict loot boxes, game companies will adapt worldwide rather than making region-specific versions, which indirectly sets a global standard. So a legal victory for anti-loot box advocates in one major market could effectively alter game monetization everywhere.

Cryptocurrency, Blockchain, and NFTs: The rise of crypto casinos and NFT-based gambling (where bets and winnings are in Bitcoin or Ethereum, etc.) presents novel legal challenges. Many crypto betting sites operate offshore, arguing they aren't clearly illegal under old laws that mention "money" (some try to claim crypto isn't "money" – although regulators disagree). Legal actions have begun: the U.S. CFTC sued a crypto prediction market (Polymarket) in 2021 and got a settlement, indicating U.S. agencies are watching crypto betting and applying relevant laws. Another case: the SEC and DOJ have pursued the founders of Ethereum-based prediction market Augur indirectly by focusing on related fraud issues. Moving forward, regulators will likely test how anti-gambling laws apply to decentralized platforms. If a blockchain casino has no central operator, can you hold someone liable? Possibly the developers or token holders could be targeted under theories of aiding and abetting illegal gambling. We haven't seen this fully litigated yet. Also, NFTs (non-fungible tokens) open questions: some new online casino-like games use NFTs as the chips" or prizes. Could that be seen as an unlicensed casino? Likely yes, by regulators. I anticipate enforcement actions against metaverse casinos that sell NFTs to play games or pay NFTs as winnings, if they take in users from regulated markets without permission. Another aspect is intellectual property: casino companies might venture into NFTs for

- loyalty or game assets they'll want legal protection, and we might see disputes if third parties misuse casino brands in NFT collections (trademark fights).
- Al and Data Privacy: The gaming industry, particularly casinos and online operators, are deploying AI for various uses: analyzing player behavior to personalize offers (or detect problem gambling), using facial recognition at casinos for security and exclusion, or even AI dealers and game software. This raises legal issues. Privacy laws like Europe's GDPR and U.S. state laws (e.g., California's CCPA, Illinois' BIPA for biometrics) will come into play. We already noted Illinois' BIPA being used against casinos for facial recognition [e.g., Casino Queen case from 2019, settled after class action filed \( \) . As more casinos use biometrics (facial scans to check age or identify banned patrons, or fingerprint for loyalty program logins), expect more BIPA-like suits in absence of consent. Some casinos in Illinois have settled suits about using fingerprints for employee timekeeping and patron tracking. The biometric class actions could expand to any jurisdiction with a similar law. In absence of explicit law, privacy concerns might be litigated as well under general consumer protection if done deceptively. Al algorithms that analyze play could also face fairness or discrimination claims. For instance, if an AI-driven dynamic promotion system was found to target vulnerable gamblers in a predatory way, it might trigger an unfair practices lawsuit or regulatory action for failing to protect problem gamblers. On the flip side, if Al is used to restrict or exclude players deemed at-risk, someone might challenge that as well (similar to how some individuals banned from platforms try legal recourse, though generally unsuccessfully).
- Responsible Gambling and Duty of Care: There is a burgeoning legal discussion, especially in the UK and parts of Europe, about whether gambling operators have a "duty of care" to prevent customers from gambling beyond their means. In the UK, there have been a few settlements and regulatory fines in cases where VIPs were allowed to lose huge sums without intervention (some families of people who committed suicide due to gambling addiction have contemplated lawsuits against operators for negligence). So far, no landmark court judgment has imposed broad tort liability on operators for gamblers' losses (the doctrine "volenti non fit injuria" one who consents cannot claim injury often stops such claims). But public and regulatory pressure might effectively create a standard of care

- enforced by regulators. Possibly in the coming years, a test case might emerge where a gambler or their family sues, say, for failing to self-exclude them upon known signs of addiction. Even if unsuccessful, it will influence compliance programs.
- Interstate and International Online Market Expansion: As the U.S. moves to more interstate compacts for poker or potentially other online gaming, the Wire Act interpretation settled in 2021 could be re-examined if, say, another DOJ under a different administration attempts a different stance or if another appellate circuit rules differently in a prosecution. If a circuit split arises, the Supreme Court could take up the Wire Act question. Another future legal battle might be about federal vs. state power: for example, if Congress passed a law to regulate online gambling or ban some aspect (like a future ban on betting on college sports, or federal sports betting excise taxes increased), there could be lawsuits by states or tribes asserting rights. Conversely, tribes offering statewide mobile betting via servers on their lands (like the Florida-Seminole compact attempted in 2021) raised legal battles (that compact was struck down by a D.C. federal court; on appeal, it was recently reinstated by an appellate panel, but possibly headed to Supreme Court). The final resolution of the Seminole compact case will set precedent on the extent of tribal online gaming rights and the interaction of IGRA with internet betting a major legal point for future compacts countrywide.
- Mergers and Antitrust in the New Era: As the industry consolidates (e.g., big mergers like Flutter with The Stars Group in 2019, creating a global online giant), competition authorities worldwide will keep watch. A hypothetical future merger of, say, DraftKings and FanDuel (should they attempt again) would likely face the same scrutiny. Also, if a large tech or media company tried to buy a major gambling operator (or vice versa), novel antitrust questions about data and advertising dominance could arise.
- Lotteries and New Forms: State lotteries expanding into new games (e.g., "iLottery" online instant games that resemble slots) have caused casino industry lawsuits (casinos in Pennsylvania sued the lottery for overstepping into casino-like games but lost in court).
   Such friction may continue as lines blur. Casinos might litigate if they feel lotteries encroach on their exclusivity (especially if lottery games become too similar to casino offerings without authorization).

Ultimately, the trajectory suggests more legalization and regulation, but with strong consumer protection via litigation or threat thereof. The gaming industry's future legal challenges will revolve around adapting old laws to new tech, and ensuring that responsible innovation isn't stifled while exploitative practices are curtailed. Lawsuits and court decisions will likely continue to be a catalyst for clarifying these boundaries – much as they have been historically.

## Predicting how lawsuits will shape gaming's trajectory, it's reasonable to foresee:

- Continued pressure for transparency and fairness through class actions or regulations

   leading to clearer odds disclosures (as we saw in UK and some US states for loot boxes
   and casino payout disclosures).
- **Greater emphasis on responsible gambling legally** perhaps even a formal "duty of care" standard emerging via regulation if not courts.
- New compliance burdens with tech e.g., verifying age and identity in an era of deepfakes and VPNs might require advanced AI, but that raises privacy issues, which might be resolved through legal standards or safe harbors.
- Global regulatory convergence big international operators may push for uniform standards so they can operate more easily in multiple jurisdictions, possibly even supporting treaties or mutual recognition agreements. If that happens, it would reduce legal conflict by standardizing rules (for example, a multinational code on sports integrity or antimoney laundering that all licensed betting operators must follow).

In summary, the gaming industry will remain an intersection of risk, reward, and regulation. Legal action is the tool society uses to keep the industry in balance – enabling the economic and entertainment benefits of gaming while mitigating the potential harms. Every new invention or trend in gambling – whether it's a virtual reality casino in the metaverse, an AI-powered betting advisor, or a new form of interactive television gambling – will undergo legal scrutiny. That process, adversarial at times, ultimately defines the rules of the road. If the past is prologue, we know that courtrooms and regulators will continue to be where the future of gaming is negotiated and defined. Stakeholders in the industry must stay vigilant to legal developments, engage proactively with lawmakers to shape sensible policy, and above all ensure compliance to avoid being on the losing end of the next landmark lawsuit that could reshape their world.